
GRAND JUNCTION CANNABIS LICENSING AUTHORITY 

MINUTES 

January 4, 2023 

 

I. Call to Order 

 

The meeting was called to order at 9:00 a.m. Those present were Hearing Officer 
Stephanie Rubinstein, City Attorney John Shaver, Staff Attorney DeLayne Merritt, 
Principal Planner Nicole Galehouse, Police Officer Travis Wright and Deputy City Clerk 
Janet Harrell. 

 

Hearing Officer Rubinstein confirmed a representative was present. 

 

II. New License Applications – Findings and Decision 

 

1. Basis, LLC dba Azul, 421 Brach Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81507, Retail 
 
Member: Kate Ramsay, 2955 Kannah Creek Road, Whitewater, CO 81527 
Member: Daniel Ramsay, 2955 Kannah Creek Road, Whitewater, CO 81527 
Member: Alanna Spees, 636 19 1/2 Road, Grand Junction, CO 81507 
Member: Oliver Spees, 636 19 1/2 Road, Grand Junction, CO 81507  
Member: Nicholas Easley, 1001 Bannock Street, Suite 419, Denver, CO 
80204 (remotely) 
 

Hearing Officer Rubinstein said she received the applicant’s response to the City’s 
comments, marked Exhibit 1. She then explained that although the submission is 
marked “confidential,” it will not remain so as a hearing exhibit. Ms. Ramsay 
acknowledged that and noted, upon request, that an updated security plan was e-
mailed to the City, marked Exhibit 2. 

 

Staff Attorney Merritt reviewed the deficiencies in the City Findings Report not 
addressed in Exhibits 1 and 2. She said the Letter of Intent (LOI) does not guarantee 
secured funding as either party may withdraw and not execute an agreement, the 
insurance quote is valid only for 30 days, and further clarification is needed regarding 
their use of a vault to determine if it meets City Code security requirements. 

 

Hearing Officer Rubinstein asked Mr. Easley to confirm that the only thing that would 
preclude funding for Basis, LLC is if they do not receive a City license. He said yes. 

 



City Attorney Shaver asked if a loan agreement had been prepared and is simply 
awaiting execution if Basis, LLC is granted a license. Mr. Easley said no; an agreement 
would not be drawn up until the license was granted. City Attorney Shaver clarified that 
the contingency is twofold: a license must be granted, followed by a successful loan 
negotiation and execution. Mr. Easley concurred. 

 

City Attorney Shaver asked if any capital contribution changes have been made to the 
Member Schedule (Exhibit 1, page 11) since October 7, 2022, which was provided to 
clarify LLC member capital contributions and interest. Mr. Easley said the only changes 
had been member-prorated payments for ongoing expenses such as legal fees and 
leases.  

 

Mr. Easley clarified that the storage of cannabis products would be in a safe that is 
inside the vault.  

 

Staff Attorney Merritt explained the City Code requires disclosure of financial 
contributions. The concern is that the LOI is contingent. 

 

Hearing Officer Rubinstein asked if anyone present would like to speak regarding the 
application. There was no one.  

 

Staff Attorney Merritt recommended that the insurance quote be valid throughout the 
application process. 

 

Hearing Officer Rubinstein said she reviewed the application and Exhibits 1 and 2 and 
considered the statements of the applicant and the City related to the alleged 
deficiencies. She found the deficiencies have been resolved, that the application is 
complete, and it will proceed to the randomized selection process. This ruling is final, 
and any appeal must be filed with the 21st Judicial District. A written order will be 
issued.  

 

III. Other Business 
 

There was none. 

 
IV. Adjournment 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:40 a.m. 



  

   

 

   
   

  

                

                  

                

             

     

     

            

 

            

          

         

        

      

              

            

              

          

         

      

  

            

     

              

          

          

           

            

              

            

           



  

        

  

              

             

 

           

            

          

              

              

        

    

  

  

    

      

      

   

         

         

           

         

      

         

         

           

           

         

       

           

           

           

         

        

         

         

        

            

          

    



  

        

          

         

        

        

           

           

               

                

        

            

              

                 

              

                 

   

           

             

          

               

             

    

   

            

             

      

           

      

        

             

              

            

              

         

             

              

            



  

            

            

            

               

           

            

           

           

      

            

          

         

          

             

            

      

             

       

           

          

            

            

            

 

 

           

    

           

         

         

           

           

               

           



  

 

               

          

        

          

        

             

  

 

               

             

           

             

          

         

           

            

           

             

       

           

           

 

      

        

          

          

         

         

          

         

            

         

          



  

          

          

          

         

         

  

        

            

       

    

          

             

         

   

   

           

           

         

           

           

      

  

         

          

       

            

        

            

              

             

 



  

      
 

  

     

             

              

            

           

     

            

     

            

    

            

        

         

             

           

       

        



  

             

            

       

            

            

                

          

             

    

       

        



  

            

           

        

          

                

               

            

           

           

     

               

          

           

              

     

              

              

           

           

          

       

        





  

        

 

    

     

    
    

    
    

    
     

  

                

         

           

          

              

        



  
          

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

   

 
 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 

 
 

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

  

 

 



      

          

            
                

           
      

             
                 

            
         

  
              

                
     

  





 

        

           
             

          
        

     

            
              

            
          

            
              

                
               
     

       
   

  
    

   

   
    

 

    
     

     
       

     
    

     
  

     
    

     

                 
                 

                
                 

               
                

               
               

               

 



 

                
              

             
          

            

             

          

               

  



   

            

        
             

            
          

              
              

               
               

            
                

               
             

               
          

             
             
             

            
            

             
              

              
             

                
             
     

          
          

              
           

             

                 
             
             

               
              

           
             

           
             
                

              
            



   

            

   

             

           
               

               
               

                 
            
 

             
              

             
          

              
               

             
            

           

             
                

              
              
             

                
              

      



 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
  

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
  

  

     
  



   

 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 



   

  

           
  

           
              

           

  
               

              



 
 

 
 



   

   

           
   

           
             

       

  
              

          



 





 

 

 
 
 

   
  
  

 

    
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

  
  

 



 

 

 
 
 

  
 

 

 

 

 
  

   

   







 

 



 

 
   

   

 

 

  

      
  

      

  

  
   

 
        

 

    

           

              

              
        

          

             
          

              

    

 
 

 

 
 

 

      



 

 
   

   
 

 

 
  

 
   

  

 
                    

  

  

                   
                

            
             

                     
        

                   
              

                   
                 

                    
 

                  
               

      



 

 
   

   
 

 

 
      

         

          

                 
 

          

             
               
  

      
         
                   

      
                 

            
             

  

              

         

      



  

  

 
  

    
   

 

               
               

                   
        

      
    

   
  

   

             

 

  

    

   

      
         
                    

     
                  

            



 

 

  

              

              

                
      



 

  

 
  

 
 

  
  

   
   

  
      
     

 

  

        

  

      
      

 

 

 

      

              
              

                    
            



  

 
  

          



  

 
  

  

   

              

   

   

    
         

    
  

   
  

        

           

        

              
           



 

 

  

  

   

   

    
    
    
    
    
    
   
   
   
   

   

  
   

  
 

    
        

   
  

     
 

  

    

  
 

   

     

    

       

  

  

    

  
        

    

   

     

  

       

    
         

   

   

   

         

   



  

  
 

    

   

   
   

                   
                    

                   
                         

                   
                      

                     
          

               

               

             

               

              

                  

             

             

                  

   

                

             

                

               

      
            

           

                
          

 

 

        
   



 

 

               

             

            

             

                

                 

           

       

            

  

        

     

    

    

                  

   

        

             

        

      

           



  

 
 

  

          
         

                  
                

                
                

               
               

                  
               

              
         

         

           

      

          

            

        

              
               

 
 
 

               
                  

            

         

               
                 

                 
          

         

    



 

   
  

  

 
  

   

 

  
  

 

     
  

 
   

 

               
               

            

   

  
  

   

 

  

  
  

  

     
  

     
  

     
  

     
  

 

   

  
  
   

  
  

  
  

  
   

      
      

    



  

        

                 
               

               
             

          

                 
       

                 
            

                   
                

               
             

              
                 

                
                

                 
             

               

      
      



  

        

    
  

   
 

  
 

  
  

  
   

   

      
           





 

       
     

     

            

             

                  
   

   

              

   

         

                

   

 

        

                           

              

                              

                                

                       



 

  
   

   

 

 

  

   

  

    

     

 

 

 

 

   

 

     

   

   

     

     





   

  

             
    

              
      

  
             

       
             

       
             

       
             

       
             

       

  









          

 
 

   
    
  

 
 

 

             
    

  



 

 
   

       

   
             

    
  



 
   

        

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

    

  

   

  

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

             
    

  

   



        

    

    

    

    

      

             
    

  

   



    

   

        

        

    

    

     

 

  

     

             
    

  

   



       

  

  

  

  

                     

          

 

 

  

   
             

    
  



  
  

   
             

    
   





  

 

   
             

    
  









 
     

 
 

   
  

    

   
            

    

 



 

       

             
    

  

   



 

        

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

  

  

    

  

   

  

   

  

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

             
    

  

   



 

        

    

    

    

    

     

             
    

  

   



    

        

        

    

    

      

    

    

   
             

    
  



 

       

  

  

  

 

                     

          

 

 

  

             
    

  

   



    
 

 

   
             

    
  





     

 

   
             

    

   









 
      

 

 

  

      
  

           

  

 

     

             
   

          
   

 

 

     

    

  

   

   
    

   

        

 

      

             
    

  

   



 

 

       

   
             

    
  



 

        

        

  
 

 
    

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   
             

    
  



 

        

    

    

    

    

     

             
    

  

   



 

 

        

       

  

           

   
        

     
             

  

    

  

         

  
       

      
              

  

    

    

   
             

    
  



 

       

  

  

  

 

                     

          

 

 

  

             

    
  

   



   

 

 

   
             

    
  





  
  

 

   
             

    
  









 
  

      
       

    

  
       

   

   

   
             

    
  



 

 

       

             
    

  

   



 

        

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

             
    

  

   



  

 

        

    

    

    

    

     

             

    
  

   



 

 

        

        

     

    

        

    

      

   
             

    
  



  

       

  

  

  

  

                     

          

 

 

 

            

    
  

   



   

 

   
             

    
   





      
 

   
             

    
  









  

  

    

        
  

           

  

 

      

             
   

          
   

     

    

    
 

 

          
   

   
    

   

    

 

      

   



 

       

    

  

             
    

           

             
    

  

   



 

 
   

        

        

 

 

  
 

  

  

  

   

      

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

   

  

   

  

   

  

   

  

 

  

   

  

  

  

  

  

  

              
    

  

   



 

        

         

    

    

    

     

   
           

    
  



 
 

        

       

    

          

                

                

      

  

   

     

 

  

                

               

    

           

               

   
             

    
  



 

                    

       

      

         

    

     

                     

          

 

 

  

             
    

  

   



  

 

   
             

    
  





  

   
             
    

   







   

     

             
              

              
               

               
                 

    

              
               

                
               

       

               
                

                
          

            
 

   



 

 

 

 







 
 
  

 
 

 

 




